2008

Max B. Graff v. Naterra West LLC; Naterra West, LLC; Gateway Farms, LLC; and Fusion Group, LLC; Gateway Farms LLC and Fusion Group, LLC v. Max B. Graff; Anita B. Graff; Curtis A. Graff; Carol A. Graff; Graff Ranches, LC; Don D. Gilbert : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION

This Court's jurisdiction rests upon Utah Code Ann. sec. 78A-4-3(2)(j).

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE 1: Whether the trial court correctly granted summary judgment to Plaintiffs/Appellees Graffs.

Standard of Review: De novo. By definition, “a district court does not resolve issues of fact at summary judgment,” therefore, this Court “consider[s] the record as a whole and review[s] the district court’s grant of summary judgment de novo, reciting all facts and fair inferences drawn from the record in the light most favorable to the nonmoving party.” *Poteet v. White*, 2006 UT 63, ¶ 7, 147 P.3d 439, 441 (Utah 2006).

Preservation for Appeal: R. at 1002-24.

CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ETC.

None.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Plaintiff/Counterclaim Defendants/Appellees Graffs filed suit on July 28, 2006 seeking to collect liquidated damages under a real estate purchase contract (“REPC”), and they also sought a declaratory judgment that the REPC had terminated by its own terms. (R. at 1-27.) On August 9, 2006, Defendant/Counterclaim Plaintiff/Appellant Naterra West, LLC answered and counterclaimed, asserting five causes of action: (1) detrimental reliance, (2) fraud, (3) breach of good faith and fair dealing, (4) unjust enrichment, and (5) conspiracy. (R. at 28-62.) Subsequently, on September 5, 2006, Gateway Farms, LLC and Fusion Group, LLC moved to intervene as plaintiffs (r. at 82-137), and on October 25, 2006, they filed a Complaint in Intervention against the Graffs (r. at 217-282).

On February 5, 2007, the Graffs moved for summary judgment against Fusion Group, Naterra, and Gateway West, arguing that the statute of frauds universally defeated each and every counterclaim against the Graffs. (R. at 852-981.) Fusion Group, Naterra, and Gateway Farms opposed the motion on March 22, 2007. (R. at 1002-24.) The Graffs filed a reply memorandum on April 12, 2007. (R. at 1062-69.) The Graffs filed a request to submit the motion the same day. (R. at 1070-72.)

On May 14, 2007, the trial court conducted a hearing on the Graffs’ motion. (R. at 1153.) Two months later, on July 10, 2007, the court issued its order¹ holding that the

¹ After the Court issued its July 10, 2007 Order, the Graffs moved on November 2, 2007 for the Order to be made final under Rule 54(b). (R. at 1201-49.) The trial court granted that motion on December 10, 2007. (R. at 1258-60.) Then on January 15, 2008,

statute of frauds defeated each and every affirmative claim by Fusion Group, Naterra, and Gateway Farms, specifically: detrimental reliance, fraud, breach of good faith and fair dealing, unjust enrichment, conspiracy, claim for attorneys' fees, and the claim for specific performance. (R. at 1152-59.) (A copy of the trial court's Order is attached hereto as **Addendum A.**)

Fusion Group, Naterra, and Gateway Farms filed its Notice of Appeal on January 8, 2008. (R. at 1261-63.)

the trial court issued an amended order, certifying it under Rule 54(b) as final and appealable. (A copy of the amended Order is attached hereto as **Addendum B.**)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

On December 10, 2004, Counterclaim Plaintiff/Appellant Gateway Farms, LLC (“Gateway”)² entered into a Real Estate Purchase Contract with the Counterclaim Defendants/Appellees Graffs (“Graffs”) to purchase four parcels of land (approximately twenty-seven acres) in American Fork, Utah (“Property”).³ (R. at 318.) Gateway was supposed to close on the Property by April 1, 2005. (R. at 942.) The Property was to be part of a larger planned residential community that Fusion Group, LLC (“Fusion Group”) wanted to develop. (R. at 318-19.)

While obtaining the requisite appraisals and city approvals for the development, Gateway requested, and the Graffs granted, several extensions to the closing dates. (R. at 318.) During this time, David Robinson⁴ (“David”), Max Graff (“Max”), and Curtis Graff (“Curtis”) were in near-constant communication. (R. at 318.) David kept Max and Curtis informed of the status of the approvals and permits and the progress toward closing on the Property. (R. at 318.)

After entering into the REPC with the Graffs, Gateway spent immense amounts of time, money, and other resources to cultivate the development, of which the Graffs’ land

² Fusion Group, LLC owns a 100% interest in Gateway Farms. (R. at 318.)

³ Prior to Gateway Farms contracting to purchase the Property, it was zoned for light industrial and could not be developed for residential use. (R. at 319.) As a likely result, the Property had been for sale for a number of years without any buyers. (R. at 319.) And as a result of Gateway, Naterra, and Fusion’s efforts in creating a master plan and assembling numerous parcels to meet a 100-acre minimum, thereby allowing the property to be developed for residential use, the Property dramatically increased in value. (R. at 319.)

⁴ David Robinson was responsible for land acquisition for Fusion Group, LLC, Naterra West, LLC, and Gateway Farms, LLC. (R. at 318.)

was to be a part. (R. at 318-19.) And the Graffs were well aware of—and happily accepted—Gateway’s efforts, which, among other things, substantially increased the value of the Graffs’ land. (R. at 318-19.)

Subsequently, the REPC between Gateway and the Graffs terminated without Gateway closing on the Property. (R. at 319.)

Then, on May 25, 2005, Defendant/Counterclaim Plaintiff/Appellant Naterra West, LLC (“Naterra”)⁵ entered into a REPC with the Graffs to purchase the Property. (R. at 319.) Addendum 2 to that REPC provided that Naterra had to close by May 31, 2006, or in the alternative, if financing had not been obtained by that time “for reasons outside of the control of [Naterra],” it could close by June 30, 2006. (R. at 349.) Additionally, Naterra had to provide the Graffs with ten days’ notice prior to closing.⁶ (R. at 349.)

In May 2005, when Naterra contracted to purchase the Property, the required city approvals and appraisals had still not been procured. (R. at 319-20.) Thus, to allow sufficient time to obtain these approvals, David requested (on Naterra’s behalf) a number of extensions from the Graffs within which to close on the Property. (R. at 319-20.) The Graffs liberally granted these extensions. (R. at 319-20.)

⁵ Fusion Group, LLC owns a 5% interest in Naterra West, LLC. (R. at 318.)

⁶ David’s understanding of the 10 days’ notice as contained in Addendum 2 of the REPC between Naterra and the Graffs required that if Naterra wanted to close earlier than May 31, 2006 or before the final closing date of June 30, 2006, the buyers were to give 10 days notice to allow closing arrangements to be made prior to June 30, 2006. (R. at 325.) David understood that the contract called for a June 30, 2006 closing unless notice of an earlier closing was given. (R. at 325.)

After entering into the REPC with the Graffs, Naterra—just like Gateway before it—spent a great deal of time, money, and other resources to further the development (of which the Graffs’ land was to be a part). (R. at 318-19.) The Graffs knew that Naterra was working to improve and increase the value of the Property, and they gladly accepted this benefit without any cost to them. (R. at 319.)

After trying to obtain city approvals for some time, ultimately, Naterra went out of contract. (R. at 320.) But Don Gilbert, the Graffs’ attorney, provided extensions within which to close, and with each extension, the Graffs reinstated the terms of the REPC. (R. at 320.)

Throughout this time, David continued to be in close contact with Max, because David trained several of the Graffs’ horses. (R. at 320.) David traveled to the Graffs’ Property between two to six times per week, and David spoke with Max about the REPC and the transaction generally on several of these occasions. (R. at 320.) In fact, David frequently visited with Max and Curtis and provided updates on the progress of the project, including, but not limited to city approvals, ordering appraisals, financing, timing, etc. (R. at 320.)

On several occasions between May 25, 2005 and June 22, 2006, David spoke with Max regarding possible funding options to purchase the Property, including Naterra obtaining a bank loan, or, alternatively, obtaining a loan from other investors or various “hard money” lenders. (R. at 320.) David also explained the additional costs of a “hard money” loan and that Naterra would prefer to pay certain carrying costs to the Graffs rather than to “hard money” lenders. (R. at 320.) Nevertheless, David informed Max

that if Naterra could not obtain financing from the preferred bank loan by the June 30 closing deadline, Naterra would be able to close on the Property through these various investors or “hard money” lenders. (R. at 321.)

David relayed to Max and Curtis that the bank loan required that the several parcels of land in the development, including the Graffs’ Property, close simultaneously. (R. at 321.) This was due to the city’s large park space requirement and those park spaces being dedicated to the city or homeowners’ association. (R. at 321.) David explained that closing on the purchase of several parcels through bank financing would allow the entire project to proceed. (R. at 321.)

On several visits to the Graffs’ property, Max informed David that Max was having difficulty finding suitable land for his new residence after the sale was complete. (R. at 321.) David repeatedly encouraged Max to locate a new residence quickly because once all of the approvals came in, it would not take long to close on the purchase. (R. at 321.)

On or about June 7, 2006, David asked the American Fork City Counsel to add an agenda item to its June 13 or 14, 2006 council meeting. (R. at 321.) This item was an additional vote required by the new planned community ordinance that would allow the appraiser to move forward with the appraisals. (R. at 321.) David informed Max of this agenda item and the need for the city’s approval before the appraiser could finalize the appraisal on the Property. (R. at 321.)

Then, on or about June 14, 2006, after the necessary preliminary city approval, David contacted the appraiser to continue expediting the appraisal of the subject property.

(R. at 322.) David confirmed with the appraiser that Naterra was closing on the Property (and the related properties in the development) at the end of the month. (R. at 322.) David informed Max about the deadline provided by the appraiser. (R. at 322.)

On or about June 22, 2006, eight days before closing, David contacted Max again about the status of the preferred bank loan. (R. at 322.) David informed Max that due to delays in the various appraisals and city approvals, the closing (using the preferred bank loan) would need to be deferred into the first part of July 2006. (R. at 322.) Max told David to contact Don Gilbert, the Graffs' attorney, to work out an extension and closing arrangements. (R. at 322.) David understood that Gilbert was acting as the title agent in the closing and recording the sale and was responsible for preparing various closing documents, including the issuance of the title policy, the settlement statement, and preparation of documents to transfer water rights from the sellers to the buyers at closing, as required by the contracts. (R. at 322.)

Max never indicated that he was no longer going to discuss contract issues with David or Naterra. (R. at 322.) In fact, Max acted exactly as he had in the past when David had requested an extension due to unforeseen problems with closing. (R. at 322.) Max's tone and body language also reflected the same willingness to continue with the sale and grant an extension, as he had done numerous times before. (R. at 322-23.)

Following Max's instructions, David made several attempts to contact Gilbert by telephone, leaving messages at his office and by calling Gilbert's personal cell phone. (R. at 323.) David also sent Gilbert e-mails. (R. at 323.) David knew that Steve Black, a

principal of Naterra, also sent Gilbert an e-mail on June 30 to make arrangements for an extension and for closing. (R. at 323.)

In spite of these numerous attempts to contact Gilbert during the entire month of June, he failed to respond or return any calls to David, Steve Black, or any other principal or employee of Naterra. (R. at 323.)

After the several unsuccessful attempts to contact Gilbert (and his failure to return the messages), David spoke with Max to ask if he had heard from Gilbert about making the closing and extension arrangements. (R. at 323.) Max indicated that he had not heard from Gilbert and again told David that he should continue to attempt to contact Gilbert concerning extension and closing arrangements. (R. at 323.) Max never indicated that he would be unwilling to extend the closing date past June 30, 2006. (R. at 323.) In fact, the contrary; Graff continued to indicate to David that closing would still take place. (R. at 323.)

On June 30, 2006, Naterra was ready, willing, and able to close. (R. at 324.) But neither Gilbert nor the Graffs scheduled a closing for June 30, 2006, primarily because Gilbert, the individual designated by the Graffs to handle the closing, was incommunicado. (R. at 324.) Naterra did not know where and if the closing settlement was to occur. (R. at 324.) Naterra was aware, however, that several closing documents, including the water rights documentation, were not prepared or delivered to Naterra prior to June 30, 2006. (R. at 324.) Neither Gilbert nor Max informed Naterra of any closing instructions or arrangements for closing prior to or on June 30, 2006. (R. at 324.)

On July 5, 2006, a few days after closing should have occurred, Gilbert responded to Steve Black, a principal of Naterra. (R. at 324.) Gilbert informed Black that the contract between Graffs and “Fusion/Naterra” had expired. (R. at 324.) Also on July 5, 2006 there was a meeting between David, Naterra, Gilbert, and the Graffs, during which Max informed David that Max had been “praying” that Naterra would default on the REPC so that Max could sell the Property for more money per acre.⁷ (R. at 324.)

David later learned that in spite of acting as the closing agent, Gilbert never prepared the necessary closing documents and water certificates. (R. at 324.) David also learned that Gilbert was out of the state for a period of approximately three weeks, including during the June 30 closing deadline. (R. at 324.) Gilbert later informed David that Gilbert did not have access to his email during that time. (R. at 324.)

⁷ The contract purchase price between Naterra and the Graffs was approximately \$171,000 per acre. After the June 30 closing deadline passed, the Graffs informed Naterra that the Graffs were not willing to take less than \$250,000 per acre for the Property because the land had increased in value thanks to Fusion and Naterra’s work with the city and others to prepare the land for a planned residential development. (R. at 325.)

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS

This case is about whether the Graffs (and/or their attorney, Don Gilbert) provided an extension within which to close on a piece of property in American Fork, Utah.

There is a disputed issue of material fact whether the Graffs (and/or Gilbert) agreed to extend the June 30 closing deadline. Alternatively, there is an issue of material fact whether the Graffs (and/or Gilbert) stonewalled all communications from Developers leading up to the June 30 closing, thereby preventing Developers from closing or receiving another extension. These disputed facts alone justify reversing summary judgment.

In addition, the Graffs were not entitled to summary judgment as a matter of law because partial performance is an exception to the statute of frauds. Developers partially performed pursuant to their agreement with Max Graff to wait and rely on the Graffs' attorney, Don Gilbert, for closing and extension instructions. Those instructions never came, to the detriment of Developers.

Finally, Developers' equitable claims were neither briefed nor argued, so the trial court should not have ruled on them. And equitable claims, like unjust enrichment, are not subject to the rigors of the statute of frauds because equitable remedies are, by their nature, based on fairness, not on rigorous adherence to technicalities.

Therefore, the Court should reverse the trial court's grant of summary judgment for the Graffs and remand this matter to the trial court.

ARGUMENT

I. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD.

Under the Utah Rules of Civil Procedure, a court may not grant summary judgment unless the moving party establishes “[1] that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and [2] that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Utah R. Civ. P. 56(c). When a court addresses a motion for summary judgment, the court’s function is not to weigh disputed evidence or to decide which side has the stronger case. Rather, the court’s “sole inquiry should be whether material issues of fact exist.” *Draper City v. Estate of Bernardo*, 888 P.2d 1097, 1100 (Utah 1995).

On a motion for summary judgment, the nonmoving party is not required to “prove” its case in order to defeat the motion. Rather, the nonmoving party is only required to submit evidence “sufficient to raise a genuine issue of fact.” *Kleinert v. Kimball Elevator Co.*, 854 P.2d 1025, 1028 (Utah Ct. App. 1993). In addition, if there is “any doubt or uncertainty concerning questions of fact, the doubt should be resolved in favor of the opposing party [and] the court must evaluate all the evidence and all reasonable inferences fairly drawn from the evidence in a light most favorable to the party opposing summary judgment.” *Bowen v. Riverton City*, 656 P.2d 434, 436 (Utah 1982). Finally, the nonmoving party’s evidence is to be believed for purposes of the motion, and if there is a conflict in the evidence as to a material fact, the motion must be denied. *See, e.g., Draper City*, 888 P.2d at 1100-01.

II. WHETHER THE GRAFFS EXTENDED THE CLOSING DEADLINE IS A DISPUTED MATERIAL FACT.

The parties dispute whether they agreed to extend the June 30, 2006 closing deadline. The Graffs argue they did not; Fusion Group, Gateway Farms, and Natterra (collectively “Developers”) argue they did. The Developers presented facts that dispute the Graffs’ facts on this issue. Therefore, summary judgment was inappropriate, and the Court should reverse the trial court’s grant of summary judgment and remand to the trial court.

On June 22, 2006, Max Graff told David Robinson to contact Don Gilbert, the Graffs’ attorney, about extending the June 30, 2006 closing deadline and making closing arrangements. (R. at 322-23.) David did all he could to follow Max’s instructions. (R. at 322-23.) David made numerous attempts to contact Gilbert. Specifically, David called Gilbert’s cell phone many times between June 22 and June 30, but Gilbert never answered. (R. at 1006.) David left several voicemails on Gilbert’s cell phone asking Gilbert to return the call because the closing deadline was fast approaching. (R. at 1006.) David also called Gilbert’s office, but Gilbert was never available, so David left messages with the individual answering the phone. (R. at 1006.) Finally, David also sent Gilbert e-mails, but he never responded. (R. at 1006.)

And David was not the only individual on the Developers’ behalf to try to contact Gilbert. Ryan Henderson also tried to contact Gilbert to review the water application change form and other matters related to transferring the water rights to the Natterra at closing. (R. at 1006.) But Henderson never reached Gilbert. (R. at 1006.)

In addition to David and Henderson, Steve Black, a principal of Developers, also contacted Gilbert by e-mail to make arrangements for closing. (R. at 1006.) Again, Gilbert never responded. (R. at 1006.)

After these unsuccessful attempts to reach Gilbert, David contacted Max again (before June 30) to see if Max had heard from Gilbert about making closing or extension arrangements. (R. at 1006.) Max told David that he had not heard from Gilbert, and Max again told David to continue to try to reach Gilbert to make closing and extension arrangements. (R. at 1006-07.) Max never told David that the Graffs would not extend the closing deadline. (R. at 1007.) In fact, the contrary; Max told David to contact Gilbert to make closing and extension arrangements, implying that Max was amenable to extending the closing date (or, at a minimum, closing on June 30). (R. at 1006-07.) Naterra was ready and willing to close on June 30, but closing depended on Graff arranging the closing, including preparing several closing documents, like those for the water rights. (R. at 1007.)

Unfortunately, David came to learn that Gilbert was out of the state during this entire period while David, Black, and Henderson were trying to reach him. (R. at 324.) Gilbert was incommunicado the entire time; he had no access to e-mail or his cell phone, which David did not learn until the July 5, 2006 meeting. (R. at 324.)

The crux of this issue is whether the Graffs, by referring Developers to Gilbert and by failing to indicate otherwise, agreed to extend the June 30 closing deadline. This is a material fact because it is at the heart of this case: if the Graffs granted the extension, the

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