2008

Max B. Graff, Anita B. Graff, Curtis A. Graff, Carol A. Graff, Graff Ranches, LC v. Naterra West, LLC; Naterra West, Gateway Farms, LLC; and Fusion Group, LLC v. Max B. Graff, Anita B. Graff, Curtis A. Graff, Carol A. Graff, Graff Ranches, LC and Don D. Gilbert : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

Finally, this Court should award the Appellee attorney's fees and punitive damages for being required to defend this frivolous appeal that was "not grounded in fact, not warranted by existing law, or not based on a good faith argument to extend, modify, or reverse existing law." The frivolity with which Developers' counsel have treated this case is also evident from the poorly drafted nature of their Brief – it is riddled with mischaracterizations and erroneous citations to the Record. The Appellee has expended many hours sifting through the Record in an often futile effort of figuring out what Developers' Brief was actually citing to. Such behavior on the part of Developers' counsel merits sanctions from this Court.

## ARGUMENT

- I. THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM BECAUSE THE ONLY ISSUE APPELLANTS PROPERLY PRESERVED FOR REVIEW WAS THE PARTIAL PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION TO THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS, AND APPELLANTS CLEARLY DID NOT PLEAD SUFFICIENT FACTS TO MEET THE STRINGENT REQUIREMENTS OF THE PARTIAL PERFORMANCE EXCEPTION.

Developers, by presenting the single issue of the partial performance exception to the statute of frauds to the trial court prior to the trial court's ruling, waived any and all remaining arguments it might have brought on appeal. Developers' argument that the partial performance exception to the statute of frauds fails because Developers have not plead facts sufficient to meet the stringent requirements of the partial performance exception, such as the requirement that the terms of the oral agreement be clear and definite, and that the action taken must clearly be a result of that agreement.

- A. The trial court did not err in granting Graff's Motion for Summary Judgment when the Developers presented only the argument that the partial performance exception overcame the statute of frauds defense.

Developers failed to present and preserve all of their equitable claims for appeal and thus waived all but the partial performance claims. "To allow the trial judge the opportunity to rule on a particular issue, the issue must be specifically raised in a timely fashion and with supporting evidence or relevant legal authority." *Harper v. Evans*, 185 P.3d 573, 577 -578 (Utah App. 2008). In a motion for summary judgment, that opportunity comes in the opposing party's memorandum in opposition. *Id.* at 578. Hence, an appellant's opposition to summary judgment is the crucial place to preserve an issue. *Id.*, at 578 (Issue not preserved when appellant's "opposition to summary

judgment in the district court purported to *abandon*” that claim.); see also *Eldridge v. Farnsworth*, 166 P.3d 639, 649 -650 (Utah App. 2007) (issue not preserved for appeal when appellant did not rely on that issue in its opposition to motion for summary judgment and did not mention the issue again until its motion to reconsider.)

Where it is conceivable that an argument was raised, and thus preserved, in oral argument, the appellant must have evidence that such arguments were made. *Busch Corp. v. State Farm Fire & Cas. Co.* 743 P.2d 1217, 1219 (Utah 1987) (“when an argument has not been made in the trial court, we will not allow it to be raised on appeal. Although it is conceivable that these arguments were raised orally in the hearing on the motion for summary judgment, there is nothing *in the record* to support that possibility.”) (Emphasis added.)

Developers’ Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment presented the single argument of partial performance as an exception to the statute of frauds to the trial court. (R. at 1003-24.) Therefore, this was the only argument properly before the trial court and thus preserved for appeal. *Busch*, 743 P.2d 1219. By failing to present and thus preserve any other arguments any attempt by the Developers to resurrect these arguments in their Brief must fail. *Id.*

Developers opposed Graffs’ motion for summary judgment on March 22, 2007, arguing **only** the issue of partial performance. In fact, like *Eldridge*, Developers appear to abandon all other arguments including any claim for unjust enrichment. Further, by stating in its Opposition:

Plaintiffs also correctly identify *some* [emphasis in original] of the circumstances when the statute of frauds *may* be overcome, such as *detrimental reliance, equitable estoppel, promissory estoppel and fraud*. While Developers *may* overcome the statute of frauds based on the foregoing circumstances, Developers also overcome the statute of frauds based on its performance of the agreement reached by Max Graff and Dave Robinson.

(Emphasis added, internal citations omitted.) (R. at 1018.) The Developers went on to ONLY address the partial performance issue in their Memorandum in Opposition. (R. at 1003-24.) Not only did Developers fail to address any remaining arguments regarding the Graffs' statute of frauds defense, but Developers admitted that these claims "may" overcome the statute of frauds – not "will" – and, as a result, implicitly abandoned those arguments. (R. at 1018.)

Even if Developers were to contend that the other equitable claims arguments were raised, and thus preserved, in oral argument, said argument would also fail. *Busch*, 743 P.2d 1219. Like the appellant in *Busch* who could not prove what was said at oral arguments, Developers did not request a transcript and thus there is no transcript of oral arguments in the Record for appeal. (R. at 1187.)

Developers chose to rely exclusively in their Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs' Motion for Summary Judgment on the partial performance exception to the statute of frauds defense, and, as a result, failed to present and preserve their remaining arguments. (R. at 1003-24.)

- B. Appellants failed to plead facts sufficient to meet the stringent case law requirements for the partial performance exception to a statute of frauds defense.

In order to prevail using the partial performance exception to a statute of frauds defense, Developers must meet the stringent requirements of this exception. Developers quite properly pointed out on page 18 of their Brief that the

standard for partial performance in Utah provides that ‘[1] the oral contract and its terms must be clear and definite; [2] the act is done in performance of the contract must be equally clear and definite; and [3] the acts must be in reliance on the contract.’... Moreover, the acts in reliance must be such that ‘(a) they would not have been performed had the contract not existed, and (b) the failure to perform on the part of the promisor would result in fraud on the performer who relied, since damages would be inadequate.’

(Citing *Spears v. Warr*, 44 P.3d 742, 751 (Utah 2002), internal quotations and citations omitted.) It is important to note that all four requirements are essential, and the failure of the Developers to meet any one of these requirements makes the claim of partial performance fail as a matter of law. *Id.* The trial court properly found that the Developers failed to meet, not just one, but each and every one of these requirements. (R. at 1264-73.)

[1] The trial court properly found that oral agreement as alleged and its terms were far from clear and definite. (R. at 1271-72, ¶¶ 1, 3.) Developers argued in its Memorandum in Opposition to Plaintiffs’ Motion for Summary Judgment, that Developers believed that an oral agreement had been reached between the Parties granting them some sort of extension based “on the voice tone, body language, and oral communications of Max Graff in June, 2006; specifically Max Graff’s instructions to plaintiffs to work things out with his attorney concerning arrangements for closing.” (R.



at 1023, ¶ 2, internal quotation marks omitted.) The words alleged by David Robinson in his affidavit (unlike the Brief<sup>3</sup>) do NOT clearly and definitely address whether an extension was granted. (R. at 375-73.) Further, Developers never claimed that critical terms of the extension were discussed, such as the length of the extension or consideration. *Id.* Therefore, as a matter of law, the terms of the contract, as Judge Howard ruled, are far from clear and definite, thereby defeating the Appellants' claims that the partial performance exception to the statute of frauds applies to this case. (R. at 1271-72, ¶¶ 1, 3.)

Moreover, the oral agreement as alleged by the Developers is not an oral contract at all, but is at most an agreement to agree, which is unenforceable as a matter of law.

*David Early Group, Inc. v. BFS Retail & Commer. Operations, LLC*, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 5694 (D. Utah Jan. 25, 2008).

An agreement to agree at a later date is unenforceable as a matter of law...."So long as there is any uncertainty or indefiniteness, or future negotiations or considerations to be had between the parties, there is not a completed contract. In fact, there is no contract at all."; see also *Harmon v. Greenwood*, 596 P.2d 636, 639 (Utah 1979) ("Such agreements to agree are generally unenforceable because they leave open material terms for future consideration, and the courts cannot create these terms for the parties.")

Like the Utah District Court in *David Early* and *Harmon* that refused to create terms for the parties, the missing essential terms of the alleged extension cannot be inferred from the comments or actions of either party.

[2] The trial court properly found that non-action and word-based actions are insufficient to reach the conclusion that the act done in performance of the contract is

---

<sup>3</sup> See footnote 2, above.

clear and definite. (R. at 1270-72, ¶¶ 2, 5-8.) Despite the fact that Developers never raised the issue that “not closing” was an act made in reliance on the alleged oral agreement, the trial court found that this non-action was not sufficiently clear and definite to meet the requirements of the second prong of the standard. (R. at 1271, ¶ 6.) It is the general rule in Utah that to avoid enforcement of the statute of frauds, **non-action may not constitute partial performance or reliance upon an oral agreement.** *Id.* As a matter of law, then, a party’s failure to close before the deadline is legally insufficient to establish partial performance as an exception to the statute of frauds in this case. *Id.* Further, the trial court went on to hold that calling Graffs’ attorney and sending him e-mail are not sufficiently clear and definite to meet the second prong of the standard because they are “word oriented” not “act oriented” (*Id.* at ¶ 7.)

[3] (a) The trial court found that the acts Developers might point to as evidence of their reliance on the contract were not done such that (a) they would not have been performed had the contract not existed. (R. at 1270, ¶ 8.) The trial court properly pointed out that Developers might not have closed for myriad other reasons including, the *lack of funding*, a decision not to go forward with the transaction, or other reasons wholly apart from the alleged oral agreement. *Id.* Further, the court properly noted that attempts to contact Graffs’ attorney would be expected because he was preparing the closing documents etc. and therefore the emails and phone calls would still have been made if the contract had not existed. *Id.* Developers themselves even mentioned throughout the Record that they had several reasons for attempting to contact the Graffs’ attorney including setting a closing date, determining the water rights, etc. (R. at 376-382 ¶¶ 6, 13-

20, 30.) Therefore, as a matter of law, as Judge Howard ruled, the Developers have failed to meet their burden in showing that they would not have attempted to perform if the purported oral contract had not existed. (R. at 1264-73.)

[3](b) Finally, Developers failed to allege in their Brief or elsewhere in the Record that the failure of the Graffs to perform on the alleged agreement to extend would result in a fraud on the Developers. First, had Developers tendered their notice to close on June 20<sup>th</sup> (within the ten days required by the written contract) or even on June 22<sup>nd</sup> (when they told the Graffs that they again failed to obtain the preferred bank financing and could not close until mid-July), then the Developers might have purchased the property and there would be no problem today.

Instead, Developers spend a great deal of their Brief alleging stonewalling efforts that prevented them from closing. (Appellant's Brief at 13, 15-17.) Developers fail to mention, however, that whether or not Don Gilbert was in the state or even incommunicado **could not have stopped the Developers from tendering their readiness to close** according to the contract. If, after Developers had tendered their readiness to close, Don Gilbert had failed to close, then the Developers would have an action against the Graffs for breach of contract, (which is not alleged by the Developers).

The opposite occurred, however. The Developers failed to tender their readiness to close, and failed to close, assuming that the Graffs would grant them one more extension after a year and a half of holdups. (R. at 377, ¶ 23, see also the timeline in Appendix A.) Then Developers attempt to blame the Graffs for misleading them through the voice tone, body language, and instructions to Developers to work things out with Graff's attorney

concerning arrangements for closing. (R. at 1023.) No fraud occurred on the Developers because they chose to disregard the contract that they signed, and relied on an alleged oral agreement with no set terms. (R. at 377 ¶ 23.) Therefore, as a matter of law, Developers failed to show how the failure of the Graffs to extend the deadline resulted in a fraud on the Developers, again defeating the Developers' claims that the partial performance exception to the statute of frauds applies to this case.

II. EVEN ASSUMING THAT THE REMAINING EQUITABLE CLAIMS WERE PROPERLY PRESENTED TO THE TRIAL COURT AND PRESERVED FOR APPEAL, THIS COURT SHOULD AFFIRM BECAUSE RECOVERY WOULD BE BARRED BY THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS.

Even were the remaining equitable claims preserved, they would be barred by Utah's statute of frauds.

- A. Developers' equitable claims are barred by Utah's statute of frauds because, the Developers' equitable claims attempt to create an interest which concerns real property.

Section 25-5-1 of the Utah Code specifically states that:

No estate **or interest in real property**,... **or power over or concerning real property or in any manner relating thereto**, shall be **created, granted**, assigned, surrendered or **declared** [unless] authorized by writing.

Developers, through their equitable claims are attempting to create an interest in, or power over the Graffs' property which is not authorized by writing. This attempt to create an interest in real property is contrary to the Utah law. Through a contortion of both legal authority and the facts in this case, Developers attempt to persuade this Court that the Developers have established some type of equitable rights in the Graffs' property,

and since those equitable claims were not addressed by the Graffs or the trial court, this Court should find that the trial court improperly granted summary judgment on those claims. (Appellants' Br. at 22.)

Developers state in their Brief that "DEVELOPERS' EQUITABLE CLAIMS WERE NOT BRIEFED OR ARGUED. AND DEVELOPERS' EQUITABLE CLAIMS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE STATUTE OF FRAUDS. THEREFORE, THE COURT IMPROPERLY GRANTED SUMMARY JUDGMENT ON DEVELOPERS' EQUITABLE CLAIMS." (Appellants' Br. at 22.) Developers seem to have forgotten that after the trial court's hearing on the Graffs' Motion for Summary Judgment, but before the trial court issued its initial Order (R. at 1166), the Developers filed an Amended Objection to Plaintiffs' Proposed Order on *their* Motion for Summary Judgment on June 7, 2007, (R. at 1097) arguing nearly word for word the same argument they propound in Argument III of the Appellants' Brief found on pages 22 through 26. Further, Developers ignore the fact that Graffs responded to this objection outlining why the Developers' equitable claims were barred by the statute of frauds. (R. at 1140.) But most incredibly, Developers do not even mention the trial court's ruling that the equitable claims were in fact barred by the statute of frauds. (R. at 1151.)<sup>4</sup>

---

<sup>4</sup> The Graffs contend that this issue was not properly presented to the trial court prior to the trial court's hearing on the motion for summary judgment in the Developers Memorandum in Opposition, which is exclusively cited as the Developers' authority that the appealed issues were preserved. Therefore, the Developers have not preserved this issue for appeal. (*See Argument I(A) Supra.*) However, out of an abundance of caution, the Graffs will address this issue.

Developers attempt to contort binding authority by stating that its equitable claims are not barred by the statute of frauds because:

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